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The North Esplanade Historic District is composed of fourteen residences on four 
contiguous blocks which face North Esplanade park overlooking a b.end in the Missouri 
river and the park itself. The district is located just to the north of the levee 
site and commercial area of downtown Leavenworth and has always been a popular residential 
area for upper and middle class businessmen. North Esplanade, which was formerly 
called Main, is on a hill running north-south and begins its slope at the levee site 
rising until Pottawatomie street where it levels off before it begins to drop off at 
Ottawa street. The district is bounded on the south by Seneca street which has tradi­ 
tionally been the start of the residential area. The northern line has been drawn at 
Ottawa Street where several nonconforming buildings and the slope of the road visually 
end the district.

The earliest extant residences on North Esplanade date from the late 1860's and 
the early 1870's. These include the C.W.P. Coll ins boarding house, the E.H. Durfee 
house, the Edward Still ings house, the Lewis Burnes house, and the Alvin Woodworth 
house. These houses with the exception of the L-shaped Coll ins boarding house, which 
has a mansard roof, are similarly proportioned two story brick structures with hip 
roofs and wide bracketed cornices. The D.R. Anthony house and the Samuel Cochran 
house which were joined after the turn of the century to form the George Ross house 
date from this period and seem to have followed the building type described above.

The next major construction period on North Esplanade was in the 1880's when the 
E.E. Henry house, the Ketcheson house, the William Small house (No. 313), the L.G. 
Terry house, the Elmore W. Snyder house and the Winfield Denton house were built. The 
Henry, Ketcheson, Snyder, and Denton houses are large two and one-half story irregularly 
shaped frame houses while the L.G. Terry house and William Small house (No. 313) are 
smaller two story houses that have been covered with modern siding.

The last major period of building activity was after the turn of the century when 
several of the existing houses such as the E.H. Durfee house, the William Small house 
(No. 321), and the George Ross house underwent extensive exterior alterations. The 
George Ross house was formed at this time from two neighboring two story residences 
dating from the 1870's. The exterior was stuccoed to give a uniform appearance, a 
new roof was placed over the joined structures and Georgian Revival details were applied 
especially at the main doorway in response to the then fashionable style. Georgian 
Revival details and stucco were also used to modernize the E.H. Durfee house. ' The 
William Small house (No. 321) was also stuccoed and reroofed with red tile. Cosmetic 
alterations were probably completed at about this same time to the Burnes and the 
Woodworth houses.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The North Esplanade Historic District is a four-block long residential area fronting 
on a riverside park just north of the early commercial and industrial area of Leaven- 
worth. The large houses in the district reflect the different periods of growth and 
prosperity in Leavenworth and present an interesting montage of the city's develop­ 
ment and history.

The area around Leavenworth was the first in Kansas for Anglo settlement; Fort 
Leavenworth was established in 1827. The city of Leavenworth was founded in June, 
1854, and was the first town organized in Kansas Territory. It became the gateway 
to the territory for both goods and settlers. Leavenworth received the first of 
whatever came into Kansas. The city grew rapidly, boasting 5,000 inhabitants by 
1857 and 10,000 by 1858. The Civil War brought prosperity and by 1865 the population 
had risen to 20,000, but after the war Leavenworth experienced hard times. Some 
important sought-after railroad connections were lost to competitors. The population 
decreased. But with the development and expansion of manufacturing in the 1870's and 
1880's growth began again. Iron foundries, flour mills, furniture factories, wagon 
factories, and other industries provided employment for many and shipped products all ove 
Kansas and the midwest. Leavenworth was the leading industrial citjj 1 in Kansas in the 
1870's. By 1882 the population had climbed back to 19,000, but after the early 1890's 
decline again set in as many of Leavenworth's industries closed. The growth and 
prosperity of recent decades has now increased Leavenworth's population to 32,000.

The street known as North Esplanade was laid out in the original town plat. The 
area between Esplanade and the Missouri river bluffs has apparently always been a park 
while the west side of Esplanade has always been a residential neighborhood. The first 
houses built there were relatively small, evidently workingmen's homes, or were 
boardinghouses. Larger structures were built in the 1860's, 1870's and later as a 
more prosperous class of people made their homes in the district. Many of these people 
were the owners and managers of the developing commercial and industrial enterprises.

The North Esplanade Historic District has always been a quiet and quality 
residential neighborhood. There is no neighborhood organization and no concerted 
preservation effort but the majority of the properties are well kept.

The unifying elements of the district include the street and the park. All key 
structures have a common setback and the same relationship to the park. All member 
structures were built prior to 1900 although some were subsequently modified. Modern 
siding has been added to some but the massing and proportions convey the original time 
period.
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Beginning at the northwest corner of the intersection of Esplanade and Seneca, the 
boundary line runs westerly along the north side of the street to the alley west of 
Esplanade, then north along the east side of the alley for four blocks to Ottawa, then 
easterly along the south side of Ottawa across Esplanade to the east edge of Esplanade 
Park at the bluff line, then south along the east boundary of the park to a point 
east of the Esplanade and Seneca intersection, and then westerly to the point of 
beginning.___________________________________________________________
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7.
Buildings and sites contributing to the character of the district:

1. C.W.P. Collins Boarding House (203 N. Esplanade): c. 1872
1% stories, brick, mansard roof with gabled dormers, 1 story wood 
porch on east facade.

2. E.E. Henry House (213 N. Esplanade): c. 1880
2^ stories, clapboarded, 1 story wood veranda across east facade, 
2 story bay on south.

3. E.H. Durfee House (219 N. Esplanade): c. 1872 with major exterior re­ 
modelling early 20th Century
2 stories, originally brick Italian Villa, now stuccoed with some 
applied Georgian Revival details

4. Edward Stillings House (303 N. Esplanade): mid 1870's
2 stories, brick with elaborate 1 story wood veranda on east facade

5. Ketcheson House (309 N. Esplanade): c. 1882
2 stories, clapboarded with octagonal tower and rounded veranda on 
east facade

6. William Small House (313 N. Esplanade): c. 1880's
2 stories, wood frame, modern siding, one story wood veranda on 
east facade

7. L.G. Terry House (317 N. Explanade):
2 stories, wood frame, modern siding, wood porch not original to 
house

8. William Small House (321 N. Esplanade):
2 stories, exterior extensively remodelled in 20th Century, stuccoed, 
red tile roof on both house and L-shaped porch.

9. Lewis Burnes House (403 N. Esplanade): late 1860's
2 stories, brick, simple Federal style detailing

10. Elmore W. Snyder House (409 N. Esplanade): mid 1880's
2h stories, clapboarded, rounded tower on northeast corner, one story 
porch across east facade



rm No. 10-300a 
3V. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR 
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

CONTIIMU ATION SHEET 4______________ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 2___________________

7.
11. George Ross House (419 N. Esplanade): early 20th Century

originally two houses built in the early 1870's that were joined 
sometime after 1915, the facades were stuccoed, the roofline changed 
and covered with red tile, and Georgian Revival details and sun porch 
added.

12. Alvin Woodworth House (501 N. Esplanade): mid 1860's
2 stories, brick, hip roof with captain's walk, Georgian Revival door­ 
way and one story room on northeast corner not original to house

13. James McCahon House (507 N. Esplanade):
2h stories, clapboarded, 1 story screened porch across east facade 
not original to house

14. Winfield Denton House (515 N. Esplanade): mid 1880's
2% stories, wood frame with modern siding, some of the wood detailing 
remains uncovered by the siding

15. North Esplanade Park
part of the original 1856 town plan, the park is grass-covered with 
most trees located along the street; children's playground equipment 
is placed at the south end. Park benches are permanently emplaced 
facing the river about 15-20 feet back from the bluff line.

Nonconforming intrusions detracting from the integrity of the district:

16. Charles Durfee House (207 N. Esplanade):
1 story, wood frame, modern siding with many additions to west

17. 517 N. Esplanade:
2 story, brick apartment building, set back behind housing line 
maintained throughout the district; possibly a modernized auxiliary 
building
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8.

Many of Leavenworth's leading businessmen and industrialists lived in the area at 
some time, particularly in the 1880's and 1890's. Because of the terrain it seemed 
removed from the area of their businesses, but yet it was only a few blocks away. 
Although the North Esplanade district itself probably had little effect on the historical 
development of the city, the people who lived there certainly were instrumental in the 
industrial development of the late 19th century.

The two intruding elements are 207 and 517 North Esplanade. The former is set 
back somewhat further than the other houses and has had many nonconforming additions 
and alterations. The latter is set back to the alley and is at the extreme north end 
of the district. Neither has a great visual impact. The boundaries of the district 
are rather clear cut, being determined by visual barriers more than anything else. 
Seneca street on the south marks the traditional beginning of the residential area; 
the alley behind the row of houses fronting on Esplanade marks the western line; beyond 
Ottawa street on the north the sharp drop of the street and a number of nonconforming 
structures indicate a visual change; on the east the boundary is the Missouri river 
bluff line where the park ends.

The houses of the North Esplanade Historic District are differentiated from 
other dwellings in that section of Leavenworth by their size, well-maintained 
appearance, well-kept yards and a common relationship to the street and park. Most 
are owner occupied. It is one of the most cohesive, unified neighborhoods in Leaven- 
worth and tied together visually by the park.

9.

History of the State of Kansas (Chicago, A.T. Andreas, 1883), pp. 417 ff.

Leavenworth City Directories (assorted dates and publishers).

Taylor, David G., "Boom Town Leavenworth: The Failure of the Dream," Kansas 
Historical Quarterly, volume 38, number 4 (Winter, 1972), pp. 389-415.
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4. Leavenworth City Commission
City Hall
Leavenworth, Kansas 66048

Francis A. McCann 
203 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Clyde M. Stewart 
213 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Jim L. McClure 
219 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Mr. and Mrs. Theodore L. Vesseler 
303 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Mr. and Mrs. William J. Doman 
309 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Ralph C. Wilkerson 
1035 S. Broadway 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Mr. and Mrs. Albert G. Inkman 
321 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Mr. Robert D. McGuire 
403 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Mr. Lamar Weaver, Jr. 
409 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

/Mrs. F.C. Bannon 
417 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas
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4.
Mr. Arthur J. Stanley, Jr. 
501 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Mr. Travis W. White 
507 N. Esplanade 
Leavenworth, Kansas

Mr. and Mrs. Warren E. Hanson 
1858 Ottawa 
Leavenworth, Kansas
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